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INTERESTS OF AMICI CURIAE 

The Consumer Financial Protection Bureau is a federal agency 

charged with promulgating rules and issuing interpretations under the 

Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691 et seq., as well as enforcing 

compliance with ECOA’s requirements, see id. § 1691c(a); see also 12 U.S.C. 

§ 5481(12), (14) (including ECOA in the list of “Federal consumer financial 

laws” that the Bureau administers).  

The Federal Trade Commission is the federal agency with principal 

responsibility for protecting consumers from deceptive or unfair trade 

practices. ECOA specifically empowers the Commission to enforce ECOA 

and its implementing rule, Regulation B, using all of the Commission’s 

functions and powers under the FTC Act. 15 U.S.C. § 1691c(c). In such 

actions, violations of ECOA are deemed violations of the FTC Act. Id. 

The Commission has brought multiple law enforcement actions pursuant to 

ECOA and Regulation B. 

ECOA requires that when creditors take “adverse action” with respect 

to a credit “applicant”—including by revoking or changing the terms of an 

existing extension of credit—the “applicant” is entitled to a statement of 

reasons for the action. Id. § 1691(d). The Act’s core prohibition on credit 

discrimination likewise protects “applicants.” Id. § 1691(a). 
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This case presents the question whether a person ceases to be an 

“applicant” under ECOA and its implementing regulation after receiving (or 

being denied) an extension of credit. The district court thought so. But that 

interpretation is inconsistent with ECOA and Regulation B and would 

significantly undermine their important protections for borrowers. 

Accordingly, the Bureau and the Commission have substantial interests in 

the Court’s resolution of the question presented. 

STATEMENT 

A. The Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Regulation B 

1.  The Equal Credit Opportunity Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691 et seq., is a 

landmark civil rights law that protects individuals and businesses against 

discrimination in accessing and using credit—“a virtual necessity of life” for 

most Americans, S. Rep. No. 94-589, at 3-4 (1976). 

Congress enacted ECOA in 1974, initially to address “widespread 

discrimination … in the granting of credit to women.” S. Rep. No. 93-278, 

at 16 (1973). The Act made it unlawful for “any creditor to discriminate 

against any applicant on the basis of sex or marital status with respect to 

any aspect of a credit transaction.” Pub. L. No. 93-495, § 503, 88 Stat. 1521, 

1521 (1974).  
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Then as now, ECOA defined “applicant” to mean “any person who 

applies to a creditor directly for an extension, renewal, or continuation of 

credit, or applies to a creditor indirectly by use of an existing credit plan for 

an amount exceeding a previously established credit limit.” Id. § 503, 

88 Stat. at 1522 (codified at 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(b)). Among other examples of 

the sort of discrimination against “applicants” that ECOA would bar, its 

drafters cited a scenario in which a lender required a “newly married 

woman whose creditworthiness has otherwise remained the same” to 

reapply for her existing credit arrangement as a new applicant. S. Rep. 

No. 93-278, at 17. 

The Act also created a private right of action under which aggrieved 

“applicant[s]” can hold liable a creditor that fails to comply with “any 

requirement imposed under this subchapter [i.e., ECOA].” 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1691e(a). And it provided that this private right of action extends to 

violations of any requirement imposed under ECOA’s implementing 

regulations. Id. § 1691a(g) (“Any reference to any requirement imposed 

under this subchapter … includes reference to the regulations of the Bureau 

under this subchapter … .”). 

Congress originally tasked the Board of Governors of the Federal 

Reserve System with prescribing those regulations. Pub. L. No. 93-495, 
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§ 503, 88 Stat. at 1522. Its grant of rulemaking authority was expansive. 

ECOA provided that the Board may issue rules to “carry out the purposes of 

the Act” and that those rules may contain, among other things, “such 

classifications, differentiation, or other provision … as in the judgment of 

the Board are necessary or proper to effectuate the purposes of [ECOA]” 

and “to prevent circumvention or evasion thereof.” Id.; see also 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1691b(a).  

The Board issued those rules, known as Regulation B, the year after 

ECOA was enacted and several days before the statute took effect. See 40 

Fed. Reg. 49,298 (Oct. 22, 1975) (promulgating 12 C.F.R. pt. 202). From the 

first, Regulation B made clear that the new law’s protections against credit 

discrimination cover both those currently applying to receive credit and 

those who have already received it. It did so by defining “applicant” to 

expressly include not only “any person who applies to a creditor directly for 

an extension, renewal or continuation of credit” but also, “[w]ith respect to 

any creditor[,] … any person to whom credit is or has been extended by that 

creditor.” 12 C.F.R. § 202.3(c) (1976); see also 40 Fed. Reg. at 49,306. In 

explaining this provision, the Board noted that ECOA’s express terms and 

its legislative history “demonstrate that Congress intended to reach 
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discrimination … ‘in any aspect of a credit transaction.’” 40 Fed. Reg. 
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terms requested.” Id. § 1691(d)(6). Thus, since 1976, ECOA has provided 

that “applicants” are entitled to an explanation when the terms of an 

existing credit arrangement are altered or the credit cancelled outright, 

among other circumstances. 

ECOA’s new notice requirements “were designed to fulfill the twin 

goals of consumer protection and education.” Fischl v. Gen. Motors 

Acceptance Corp., 708 F.2d 143, 146 (5th Cir. 1983); see also id. (calling 

these provisions “[p]erhaps the most significant of the 1976 amendments to 

the ECOA”). In terms of consumer protection, “the notice requirement is 

intended to prevent discrimination ex ante because ‘if creditors know they 

must explain their decisions ... they [will] effectively be discouraged’ from 

discriminatory practices.” Treadway v. Gateway Chevrolet Oldsmobile 

Inc., 362 F.3d 971, 977–78 (7th Cir. 2004) (quoting Fischl, 708 F.2d 

at 146); see also S. Rep. No. 94-589, at 4 (calling the notice requirement 

“a strong and necessary adjunct to the antidiscrimination purpose of the 

legislation”).  

The notice requirement “fulfills a broader need” as well by educating 

consumers about the reasons for the creditor’s action. S. Rep. No. 94-589, 

at 4. As a result of being informed of the specific reasons for the adverse 

action, consumers can take steps to try to improve their credit status or, in 

Case 20-2049, Document 62, 10/07/2020, 2947456, Page12 of 37



 

7 

cases “where the creditor may have acted on misinformation or inadequate 

information[,] … to rectify the mistake.” Id. 

Following the ECOA Amendments of 1976, the Board amended 

Regulation B, including by adding new provisions to implement ECOA’s 

notice requirement. 42 Fed. Reg. 1242 (Jan. 6, 1977). The amended rule 

defined “adverse action” to include “[a] termination of an account or an 

unfavorable change in the terms of an account that does not affect all or 

substantially all of a class of the creditor’s accounts.” 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1002.2(c)(1)(ii). And it required that adverse-action notices give a 

“statement of reasons” for the action that is “specific” and “indicate[s] the 

principal reason(s) for the adverse action.” Id. § 1002.9(b)(2).  

The Board’s amendments to Regulation B also imposed a number of 

content requirements on adverse-action notices. Id. § 1002.9(a)(2). 

As subsequently amended, this part of Regulation B now requires that an 

adverse-action notice include a statement of the action taken, the name and 

address of the creditor, a statement of the provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1691(a), 

and the name and address of the relevant federal regulatory agency. 12 

C.F.R. § 1002.9(a)(2); see also 50 Fed. Reg. 48,018, 48,022 (Nov. 20, 1985) 

(adding requirement that notices include the creditor’s name and address). 
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Finally, the Board made a “minor editorial change” to Regulation B’s 

definition of “applicant” in order to “express more succinctly the fact that 

the term includes both a person who requests credit and a debtor”—i.e., one 

who has already requested and received credit. 41 Fed. Reg. 29,870, 29,871 

(July 20, 1976) (proposed rule). Whereas Regulation B originally defined 

“applicant” to include one who “applies to a creditor directly for an 

extension, renewal or continuation of credit” as well as, “[w]ith respect to 

any creditor[,] … any person to whom credit is or has been extended by that 

creditor,” 12 C.F.R. § 202.3(c) (1976), the revised definition simply stated 

that “applicant” includes “any person who requests or who has received an 

extension of credit from a creditor.” 12 C.F.R. § 202.2(e) (1978) (emphasis 

added); see also 42 Fed. Reg. 1242, 1252 (Jan. 6, 1977) (final rule). 

Although the Board revised other parts of the definition over the years, it 

never departed from the bedrock understanding of the term “applicant” as 

including any person “who has received” an extension of credit. See 12 

C.F.R. § 1002.2(e). 

3.  The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection 

Act, enacted in 2010, established the Bureau and transferred to it primary 

rulemaking responsibility under ECOA. Pub. L. 111-203, § 1085, 124 Stat. 
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1376, 2083-84.2 Shortly thereafter, the Bureau republished the Board’s 

ECOA regulations, including the definition of “applicant,” without material 

change. See 76 Fed. Reg. 79,442 (Dec. 21, 2011) (promulgating 12 C.F.R. 

pt. 1002 & Supp. I). 

B. Factual and Procedural Background 

Plaintiff Bradley TeWinkle was a New York resident at the time of the 

events alleged in his complaint. Defendant Capital One is a national bank.  

TeWinkle had a checking account and an overdraft line of credit with 

Capital One. JA10, 17. Capital One sent TeWinkle an email in December 

2015 notifying him that it was terminating his checking account and his 

overdraft line of credit. JA11. The email included a notice describing the 

protections offered by ECOA and identifying the Bureau as the federal 

agency “that administers compliance with [ECOA] concerning this 

creditor.” JA17. It announced the closure of TeWinkle’s line of credit thusly: 

When you opened your accounts, you agreed to the Account 
Disclosures reserving our right to close your accounts at any 
time, for any reason. We closed your 360 Savings on 12/22/15. 
We closed your 360 Checking, including your Overdraft Line of 
Credit and Debit MasterCard®.  
 

                                            
2  The Board retains the authority to prescribe rules under ECOA with 
respect to auto dealers excluded from the Bureau’s authority by 12 U.S.C. 
§ 5519. See 15 U.S.C. § 1691b(f).  
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JA17. TeWinkle received no other correspondence about the revocation of 

his line of credit. JA11. 

  TeWinkle filed suit under ECOA, alleging that Capital One violated 

the adverse-action notice requirement in ECOA and Regulation B. JA14. 

Specifically, TeWinkle alleged that the email he received from Capital One 

upon closure of his line of credit failed to include (1) “the address of the 

creditor” and (2) either a “statement of specific reasons for the action 

taken” or a disclosure of his “right to a statement of specific reasons.” JA11. 

Capital One moved to dismiss, primarily on the ground that TeWinkle 

was not an “applicant” entitled to protection under ECOA because he was 

not applying for credit at the time his account was closed.  
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The court went on to conclude that TeWinkle had suffered no “injury 

in fact” because the email he received “provided the reason for the closing 

of the line of credit”: “[I]t was closed with the associated checking account,” 

which Capital One could close “at any time, for any reason.” JA32. 

The district judge adopted the magistrate judge’s recommendation, 

over TeWinkle’s objection, without change or additional explanation. JA36. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Equal Credit Opportunity Act and Regulation B prohibit 

discrimination in any aspect of a credit transaction on the basis of sex, race, 

or other enumerated factors. They further require that creditors give 

borrowers an explanation when they take certain “adverse actions,” 

including revoking or changing the terms of a credit arrangement. These 

important protections do not end the moment an extension of credit begins. 

Instead, ECOA and Regulation B establish that the “applicants” they protect 

include both those who are currently seeking credit and those who sought 

and have now received credit.  

This is the best reading of the statute itself. Although ECOA’s 

definition of “applicant,” read in isolation, could be susceptible to the 

narrow interpretation adopted by the district court, that interpretation 

makes little sense when read alongside the rest of the statute. ECOA’s 
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ARGUMENT 

ECOA AND REGULATION B 
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provisions of ECOA shows that the st
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why their credit has been revoked, or the terms of their existing credit 

arrangement changed, makes clear that the term includes those who have 

applied for and received credit. These provisions would make little sense if 

“applicants” instead included only those with pending requests for credit.  

Second, ECOA creates a private right of action under which an 

aggrieved “applicant” may file suit against a “creditor” who “fails to comply 

with any requirement” of ECOA or Regulation B. Id. §§ 1691e(a), 1691a(g); 

see also id. § 1691e(b) (providing that a “creditor, other than a government 

or governmental subdivision or agency,” shall be liable to the aggrieved 

“applicant” for punitive damages of no more than $10,000); id. § 1691e(c) 

(the aggrieved “applicant” may apply for relief in district court). These 

references to “applicant[s]” as the ca



 

16 

Third, ECOA is explicit that its core prohibition on discrimination 

applies “to any aspect of a credit transaction”—i.e., not merely to the initial 

application process. 15 U.S.C. § 1691(a). As courts have recognized, reading 

“applicant” to refer only to those with pending credit applications would 

ignore the terms of this broad prohibition and “improperly narrow[] the 

scope of the ECOA.” See Kinnell v. Convenient Loan Co., 77 F.3d 492 

(10th Cir. 1996) (unpublished) (rejecting this interpretation and noting that 

it would exclude from ECOA’s reach “any sua sponte action on the part of 

the creditor, such as accelerating the terms of a note and effectively 

discontinuing the extension of credit”); Powell v. Pentagon Fed. Credit 

Union, No. 10-cv-785, 2010 WL 3732195, at *4 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 17, 2010) 

(rejecting that “narrow[]” interpretation, which “would preclude a plaintiff 

with an existing account from bringing a claim for the discriminatory 

revocation of that account.”). 

Under the district court’s interpretation, ECOA would apply not “to 

any aspect” of a credit transaction, 15 U.S.C. § 1691(a), but instead only to 

the process of requesting credit. This would dramatically curtail the reach 

of the statute, in contravention of its plain text and with far-reaching 

consequences. On this view, a creditor would not violate ECOA by, for 

example, lowering existing credit limits based on account holders’ religion 
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or denying mortgage modification applications because the borrower 

received public assistance income. A creditor could require that women 

with existing lines of credit must reapply for that credit upon getting 
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and then later revoking or changing the terms of the credit arrangement on 

a prohibited basis. By such or similar means a creditor could avoid ever 

having to explain the reasons for an adverse action.4 

The district court’s flawed interpretation of ECOA would, therefore, 

introduce a loophole big enough to threaten to swallow whole the notice 

requirement and the statute’s central prohibition on credit discrimination. 

Cf. Tyson v. Sterling Rental, Inc., 836 F.3d 571, 580 (6th Cir. 2016) 

(rejecting interpretation of ECOA that would make the Act so easy to evade 

as to render it “a paper tiger”); Treadway v. Gateway Chevrolet 

Oldsmobile Inc., 362 F.3d 971, 977 (7th Cir. 2004) (rejecting interpretation 

of ECOA that “would run contrary to the purpose of the [adverse-action] 

notice requirement”). The better reading of the ECOA—the reading 

consistent with its text, structure, and purpose—is that it protects those 

seeking credit even after they receive (or are denied) an extension of credit. 

                                            
4  Whether such maneuvers would actu
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2.  Congress’s history of amending the statute strongly supports this 

reading. As discussed below, the Federal Reserve Board first issued 

Regulation B in 1975, shortly before ECOA took effect. This first iteration of 

Regulation B defined applicant to include “any person to whom credit is or 

has been extended.” 12 C.F.R. § 202.3(c) (1976). Fobrto wh0.0006 Tc ghtis 
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242, § 223, 105 Stat. 2306-07; Dodd-Frank Act, Pub. L. No. 111-203, 

§§ 1071, 1474, 124 Stat. 2056-57, 2199-2200.  

“[W]hen,” as here, “Congress revisits a statute giving rise to a 

longstanding administrative interpretation without pertinent change, the 
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and consistent exercise of the Board’s and the Bureau’s authority under 

ECOA to issues rules to carry out the statute’s purpose, including by 

resolving this ambiguity in the statute, and to prevent evasion. These 

provisions are therefore entitled to substantial deference. 

1. Regulation B expressly defines “applicant” to include 
those who have received credit. 

 
In enacting ECOA, Congress tasked first the Board and now the 

Bureau to “prescribe regulations to carry out the purposes of [the Act].” 

15 U.S.C. § 1691b(a). Like the statute it implements, Regulation B prohibits 

creditors from discriminating on a prohibited basis against “an applicant,” 

12 C.F.R. § 1002.4(a), and requires creditors to provide a statement of 

reasons to “an applicant” for any adverse action, id. § 1002.9(a)-(b). 

As first promulgated by the Board in 1975, Regulation B defined 

“applicant” to include “any person who applies to a creditor directly for an 

extension, renewal or continuation of credit” as well as, “any person to 

whom credit is or has been extended.” 40 Fed. Reg. at 49,306. Since the 

Board amended that definition in 1977, it has included “any person who 

requests or who has received an extension of credit from a creditor.” 

12 C.F.R. § 1002.2(e) (emphasis added); 42 Fed. Reg. 1252 (Jan. 6, 1977). 

Thus, at all times, Regulation B has made clear that the term “applicant” is 
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not limited to those persons who are in the process of applying for credit for 

purposes of ECOA’s protections. 

Many other parts of the rule reflect and incorporate this 

understanding of the term. See, e.g., 12 C.F.R. § 1002.2(m) (defining “credit 

transaction” to mean “every aspect of an applicant’s dealings with a creditor 

regarding an application for credit or an existing extension of credit” 

(emphasis added)); id. § 1002.9(a)(1)(iii) (lender shall notify “an applicant” 

within 30 days of “taking adverse action on an existing account”).  

There is thus no question that under Regulation B, a person, such as 

TeWinkle, who has applied for and received an extension of credit is an 

“applicant” to whom the adverse-action notice requirements (as well as the 

prohibition on credit discrimination) apply.5 It is equally clear that 

TeWinkle can rely on this regulatory definition in pursuing his private right 

of action. That right of action allows applicants to hold liable a creditor 

“who fails to comply with any requirement imposed under [ECOA]” or 

Regulation B. 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691e(a), 1691a(g); 
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2014) (“A creditor who violates Regulation B necessarily violates ECOA 

itself.” (citing 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(g)). 

2. Regulation B is a reasonable implementation of ECOA 
and as such is entitled to deference. 
 

Regulation B’s definition of “applicant” to include those “who ha[ve] 

received an extension of credit,” 12 C.F.R. § 1002.2(e), is a reasonable 

exercise of the Bureau’s authority to issue rules “to carry out the purposes” 

of ECOA, including by resolving ambiguities in the statute, and “to prevent 

circumvention or evasion.” 15 U.S.C. § 1691b(a). It is therefore entitled to 

substantial deference under Chevron, USA, Inc. v. NRDC, 467 U.S. 837 

(1984). See, e.g., NRDC v. EPA, 961 F.3d 160, 169-70 (2d Cir. 2020); see 

also Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Milhollin, 444 U.S. 555, 566-69 (1980) 

(emphasizing the “particular[]” deference owing to regulations the Board 

issued pursuant to its similar rulemaking authority under the Truth in 

Lending Act). 

As described above, the best reading of ECOA’s statutory language is 

that the term “applicant” includes those who have applied for and received 

credit. It was thus reasonable for the Board and now the Bureau to adopt 

through notice-and-comment rulemaking a definitional provision making 

explicit that understanding. Indeed, adopting the contrary interpretation 

would have led to the serious textual inconsistencies described above. 
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Regulation B’s definition avoids that disruption to the statutory text and, in 

the process, serves to “carry out” and “effectuate” the purposes of ECOA by 

making clear that its protections continue to apply after an applicant 

receives credit. 15 U.S.C. § 1691b(a).  

And because a view that “applicant” is limited to those currently 

applying for credit would open a glaring loophole through which creditors 

could avoid ECOA’s requirements, Regulation B’s definition serves also “to 

prevent circumvention or evasion” by making clear that the law’s 

protections apply also to existing borrowers. Id. 

Finally, it is noteworthy that Regulation B’s definition of applicant 

has remained unchanged in this respect since its promulgation by the 

Board in 1975. Courts often “accord particular deference to an agency 

interpretation of ‘longstanding’ duration.” Barnhart v. Walton, 535 U.S. 

212, 220 (2002) (citation omitted). Deference is especially appropriate in 

such circumstances because the regulatory provisions do not create any 

“unfair surprise to regulated parties.” Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S. Ct. 2400, 2418 

(2019) (discussing the practice of deference in the context of ambiguous 

agency regulations) (quotation marks omitted).  

In short, Regulation B’s 45-year-old construction of the term 

“applicant” addresses ambiguity in the statutory scheme in a way that is 

Case 20-2049, Document 62, 10/07/2020, 2947456, Page30 of 37



 

25 

entirely consistent with the text, structure, and purposes of ECOA and well 

within the scope of the Board’s and the Bureau’s rulemaking authority. 

Regulation B’s definition is therefore entitled to substantial deference. 

C. The District Court Erred in Its Analysis of the Term 
“Applicant” 

 
The district court erred in concluding that TeWinkle did not plausibly 

allege that he is an “applicant” under ECOA and Regulation B.  

1.  The district court’s reading of ECOA was mistaken for the reasons 

already explained. Rather than “looking to the statutory scheme as a whole 

and placing the particular provision within the context of that statute,” 

Epskamp, 832 F.3d at 162, the district court examined the definition 

provision in isolation. It then read into that definition a limitation that does 

not appear in the text itself and that does not function sensibly alongside 

other provisions of ECOA. 

This is equally true of the other district court decisions that have 

reached the same conclusion. See Kalisz v. Bank of Am., N.A., No. 1:18-cv-

00516, 2018 WL 4356768, at *2-3 (E.D. Va. Sept. 11, 2018); Stefanowicz v. 

SunTrust Mortg., No. 3:16-cv-00368, 2017 WL 1103183, at *8 (M.D. Pa. 
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Countrywide Home Loans, Inc., 592 F. Supp. 2d 283, 291 (N.D.N.Y. 2008), 

aff’d on other grounds, 421 F. App’x 97 (2d Cir. 2011). And no courts of 

appeals have endorsed these courts’ narrow view of the term “applicant” 

upon review.6 

None of these decisions addressed the definition’s place in the larger 

statutory scheme. None discussed ECOA’s definition of “adverse action,” its 

private right of action available to 
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possible for an applicant for new credit to experience a ‘revocation of credit’ 

or ‘a change in terms of an existing credit arrangement.’” Opp’n to Pl.’s 

Objs. to R. & R. at 14-15 (“Opp’n”) (ECF No. 24). As an example, Capital 

One describes a scenario in which a credit card holder applies to increase 

her credit limit and the creditor responds by cancelling the card outright or 

changing its terms. Id. at 14. Capital One suggests that Congress thought it 

important for a borrower in this situation to receive an adverse-action 

notice about the revocation (she would already be entitled to one for the 

denial of a higher credit limit), but not a borrower whose card is cancelled 

without her having sought a higher credit limit. 

This interpretation is strained, at best. As a drafting matter, it would 

have been odd for Congress to target the relatively uncommon situation 

Capital One describes by defining “adverse action” in terms as broad as “a 

denial or revocation of credit” and “a change in the terms of an existing 

credit arrangement.” 15 U.S.C. § 1691(d)(6). Nor has Capital One explained 

why Congress would have sought to so narrowly circumscribe the reach of 

the notice requirement—particular
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Credit Union, No. 10-cv-785, 2010 WL 3732195, at *4 n.2 (N.D. Ill. Sept. 17, 

2010) (rejecting the same argument for much the same reason).  

Capital One also pointed to a number of places that ECOA uses 

“applicant” in conjunction with the term “application.” See, e.g., 15 U.S.C. 

§ 1691(d)(1) (within 30 days of receiving a “completed application for 

credit,” creditors must notify the “applicant” of its decision on the 

application) (cited in Opp’n at 13
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Finally, Capital One noted that ECOA’s definition refers not only to 

those who request an extension of credit, but also to those seeking a 

“renewal” or “continuation” of credit. 15 U.S.C. § 1691a(b). Thus, Capital 

One argues, Congress meant to exclude borrowers who had not requested 

to renew or continue their existing credit arrangements. See Opp’n at 9. 

To the contrary, the provision’s sweeping language—covering any person 

who applies for “an extension, renewal, or continuation of credit”—evinces 

an intent to include, not exclude. Given the statutory context, this provision 

is best understood as “Congress employ[ing] a belt and suspenders 

approach” to ensure that the definition is read to apply broadly. 

See Atlantic Richfield Co. v. Christian, 140 S. Ct. 1335, 1350 n.5 (2020). 

2.  It also was error for the district court to dismiss Regulation B’s 

definition of “applicant.” JA31. That definition represents a reasonable 

means of implementing ECOA by resolving ambiguity in the statute, as well 

as preventing evasion. As such, it is entitled to substantial deference. See, 

e.g., NRDC, 961 F.3d at 169-70; Treadway v. Gateway Chevrolet 

Oldsmobile Inc., 362 F.3d 971, 976 n.3 (7th Cir. 2004) (provisions of 

Regulation B entitled to deference under Chevron).  

Moreover, ECOA by its own terms provides that its private right of 

action extends to violations of Regulation B, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1691e(a), 1691a(g), 
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and Regulation B states that the “applicants” to which it applies, including 

those who have received credit, are entitled to an adverse-action notice, 12 

C.F.R. §§ 1002.9(a)-(b), 1002.2(e). The district court should have applied 

the longstanding regulatory construction of the term “applicant.” 

CONCLUSION 

The Court should reverse the district court’s holding that TeWinkle 

was not an “applicant” entitled to a statement of reasons for the adverse 

action on his line of credit. 
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